FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/6/2023 2:09 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. <u>101872-0</u>

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II: No. 56658-3-II

AURC III, LLC, an Oregon limited liability company,

Respondent,

v.

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are Point Ruston Phase II, LLC ("PR Phase II"), Point Ruston, LLC ("PR"), Century Condominiums, LLC ("Century"), The Shops at Point Ruston I, LLC (the "Shops"), PR Retail, LLC ("PR Retail"), PR Building 11/9 (the "Garage"), Point Ruston Theatre, LLC ("PR Theatre"), PR Main Street Retail, LLC ("PR Main Street"), and Rainier Property Services, LLC ("RPS") (collectively "Petitioners").

II. THE DECISION DESIGNATED FOR REVIEW

Petitioners seek review of the March 7, 2023, Opinion issued by the Washington Court of Appeals, Division II ("COA"), affirming the Superior Court's confirmation of an arbitration award and entry of judgment against Petitioners, which is contained in the Appendix.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Issue One

Petitioners satisfied the underlying arbitration award in full before the Superior Court confirmed the award, which

eliminated the live controversy and rendered the case moot. Nevertheless, over Petitioner's objection, the Superior Court confirmed the award and entered a money judgment against Petitioners rather than dismissing this *case with prejudice*. The Court of Appeals affirmed and created a divisional split of authority when it "declined to follow" *Kenneth W. Brooks Trust v. Pac. Media, LLC*, 11 Wn. App. 393, 44 P.3d 938 (2002). The first issue is whether this Court should accept review to resolve a divisional split in authority on the mootness doctrine and its application to entry of judgments after a private arbitration award has been satisfied in full.

B. Issue Two

RCW 7.04A.220 authorizes a Superior Court to confirm the "award," which is a term of art for purposes of arbitration that was defined in *Westmark* over 30 years ago. A Superior Court is not entitled to confirm the "reasons for the award," which gives the false impression that a court has independently endorsed an arbitrator's reasons for the award. Nevertheless, the Superior

Court entered an over-broad confirmation order, which conveys the false impression to the public a court or judicial officer has independently reviewed the arbitrators' reasons for the award and endorsed them. The Superior Court committed reversible error through its over-broad confirmation order that gives the misleading appearance that a court has given approval of an arbitrator's erroneous "reasons" for the award. The Court of Appeals erroneously affirmed. The second issue in this motion is whether the Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals decisions and to clarify the scope of an "award" that courts are to confirm under RCW 7.04A.220 consistent with the Court of Appeal's holding in Westmark Properties v. McGuire, 43 Wn. App. 400, 766 P.2d 1146 (1989). The Court should do so as a matter of public importance and public interest.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 21, 2020, Plaintiff/Respondent AURC III, LLC, filed its First Amended Complaint, asserting claims against Defendants/Appellants Point Ruston Phase II, LLC ("PR

Phase II") for breach of a Loan Agreement; against Point Ruston, LLC ("PR") for breach of a Guaranty of the Loan Agreement; and against Century Condominiums, LLC ("Century"), the Shops at Point Ruston I, LLC (the "Shops"), PR Retail, LLC ("PR Retail"); PR Main Street Retail, LLC ("PR Main Street Retail"); "Point Ruston Building 11/9, LLC ("PR Building 11/9"); Point Ruston Theatre, LLC ("PR Theatre"); and Rainier Property Services, LLC ("RPS"), for breach of two separate "distribution and transfer" agreements, to avoid transfers under RCW 10.40, et. seq., and for an "accounting." (CP 1-19.) Collectively Appellants PR Phase II, PR, Century, the Shops, PR Retail, PR Main Street Retail, PR Building 11/9, PR Theatre are referred to as the Appellants or the Point Ruston Parties. On September 10, 2020, Appellants filed their First Amended Answer, Defenses, Counterclaims, and Third-Party Claims, which asserted the right to binding arbitration under the Loan Agreement. (CP 20-43.)

On September 25, 2020, the Superior Court ordered most of the parties to arbitration but ordered PR Phase II's third-party claims against ACI Capital Partners, Inc., to be severed by separate order. (CP 44-45.)

On July 22, 2021, American Arbitration Association Arbitrator George Finkle signed a document titled "Interim Award." (CP 48.) On July 22, 2021, Arbitrator Finkle signed a document titled "Final Award." (CP 48.)

For purposes of this appeal, it is important to distinguish between the title of the document that the arbitrator signed and arbitration terms of art. The document titled Interim Award contained both the reasons for the award and the "Award," and the term "Award" is a term of art on arbitration. The document the Arbitrator signed titled "Interim Award," consisted of a "Discussion" that ran from pages 2 through 22 (CP 177-198), and the actual "Interim Award," which is contained on pages 23 and 24. (CP 199-200.) Pages 2 through 22 are written reasons for the award but not the actual "Interim Award." (CP 199-200.)

The document the Arbitrator signed titled "Final Award," incorporated the Interim Award found on pages 23 and 24 and then provided specific reasons for a fee award. (CP 53-54.) The "Final Award" is on pages 3 and 4. (CP 53-54.) The Arbitrator did not, at any point in the proceeding, issue findings of fact or conclusions of law, and doing so would exceed his authority under Section 8.16(b)(iv) of the Loan Agreement and the agreement of the parties at Arbitration. (*E.g.*, CP 137, 328-29.)

The Arbitrators "Final Award" is reproduced in toto:

Final Award.

Interest.

I award Claimant \$10,969,015.00 in Current Interest and Default Interest through March 31, 2021, jointly and severally against Respondents Point Ruston Phase II, LLC; Point Ruston, LLC; Century Condominiums, LLC; The Shops at Point Ruston I, LLC; PR Retail, LLC; Point Ruston Theatre, LLC; PR Main Street Retail, LLC; and PR Building 11/9, LLC.

I rule only on Claimant's request for Current Interest and Default Interest.

Attorney fees and costs.

Claimant is awarded a total of \$434,287.75 in attorney fees and \$96,686.82 in costs.

The administrative fees and expenses of the American Arbitration Association totaling \$24,846.90 shall be borne by Respondents, and the compensation of the arbitrator totaling \$49,400.00 shall be borne by the Respondents.

This Final Award is in full settlement of all claims and counterclaims submitted to this arbitration. All claims not expressly granted or expressly reserved herein are hereby denied.

(CP 499-500.)

On August 27, 2021, AURC filed a motion to confirm arbitration award. (CP 80.) AURC correctly noted that the "Arbitrator's ruling is succinctly stated in the Final Award" and reproduced it in less than half a page. (CP 82.)

On September 7, 2021, Appellants filed a response to the motion to confirm that agreed that the Final Award resolved "all matters in dispute" and did not oppose confirmation of the award and entry of judgment. (CP 90-91.)

On September 8, 2021, AURC filed a reply brief that for the first time stated that the document titled "Interim Award" and "Final Award" should be attached to a judgment as exhibits and that the "entry of judgment does not resolve all matters in this case." (CP 99-103.)

On September 9, 2021, Appellants filed a sur-reply that objected to confirmation of anything but the "award," *i.e.*, the "statement of relief in the award alone." (CP 160-163.) Appellants also objected to entry of a "final judgment" that did not dispose of all claims against all parties. (CP 160-163.)

At the first hearing to confirm the award, the Superior Court indicated that it would not enter a judgment until all issues had been finally resolved and requested supplemental briefing.

On September 20, 2021, Appellants filed their Supplemental Brief and Proposed Order and Judgment. (CP 305-322.)

On September 27, 2021, Appellants filed a Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction. (CP 341-343.) Appellants had paid the entire amount of the Award, in full, terminating the controversy before the award had been confirmed

and before judgment had been entered. (CP 342-43.) On October 5, 2021, AURC "verified" that the full amount of the award had already been paid. (CP 363.)

On October 8, 2021, the Superior Court denied the motion to dismiss (CP 510-11), confirmed the award by attaching the reasons to the confirmation order (CP 516-548), and entered judgment on the award (CP 512-15.)

On October 15, 2021, more than a week after the award had been paid in full, AURC filed a Full Satisfaction of Judgment. (CP 550.)

On March 7, 2023, the Court of Appeals affirmed. (Appx. 49.)

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Court should accept review to resolve a divisional conflict of authority on the mootness doctrine and its application to the Washington Uniform Arbitration Act under RAP 13(b)(2).

It is undisputed that Petitioners satisfied the award—in full—before the confirmation hearing and before judgment was

entered on the award. For the reasons stated by the Division III Court of Appeals *Brooks Trust A*, using a *de novo* standard of review, tendering payment of this amount ended the controversy. There was nothing left for the Superior Court to decide. The case should have been dismissed as moot because there was no case or controversy left to resolve and doing so would further the purposes of the Washington Uniform Arbitration Act. See Brooks Trust A v. Pac. Media, LLC, 111 Wn. App. 393, 400, 44 P.3d 938 (2002) (affirming dismissal with prejudice of the case before confirmation based on payment of the award in full, the lack of a controversy, and the policies of the arbitration act). Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals expressly "declined to follow" the holding of *Brooks Trust A* and determined that the Superior Court was required to enter a moot judgment confirming the award. (Appx. 44.) The Court should accept review because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in direct conflict with a published decision of the Division III Court of Appeals. RAP 13(b)(2).

B. The "reasons for the award" are not subject to confirmation and there are important policy reasons to clarify the scope of what a trial court is authorized to "confirm" when it confirms and award.

AURC convinced the Superior Court to confirm—or give the appearance of confirming—the "reasons for the award" instead of just the Award. The Superior Court's duty under the Arbitration Act is to confirm the "Award" and respect the parties' contract as to what constitutes the "Award." But not confirm the extraneous reasons for the Award, which is outside of the Superior Court's confirmation powers under the Arbitration Act, RCW Chapter 7.04A.

Here, on July 22, 2021, the Arbitrator issued a document titled "Interim Award," that consisted of an unreviewable "Discussion" that ran from pages 2 through 22, that also contained a number of unsupported, extraneous, and at times defamatory observations. The "Interim Award" itself is on pages 23 and 24. Pages 2 through 22 at least facially meet the

requirements that the Arbitrator provide concise written "reasons" for the award and an "Award."

On August 23, 2021, the Arbitrator issued a "Final Award," that incorporated the Interim Award on page 23 and 24 and then provided specific reasons for a fee award. The "Final Award" is on pages 3 and 4 of the Final Award. What the Arbitrator did not do, however, was issue findings of fact or conclusions of law, and doing so would exceed his authority under Section 8.16(b)(iv) of the Loan Agreement and the agreement of the parties at Arbitration. *Compare Sarofim v. Trust Co. of the W.*, 440 F.3d 213, 215 n.1 (5th Cir. 2006) (a "reasoned award" is "something short of findings and conclusions but more than a simple result.").

Under the Court of Appeals' holding in *Westmark Properties v. McGuire*, 43 Wn. App. 400, 766 P.2d 1146 (1989), expanding the scope of the actual award to include the "reasons" for the award is inconsistent with the nature of Arbitration and the statutory structure of RCW Chapter 7.04A. *See Westmark*, 53 Wn. App. at 402-03.

Our litigious society encourages parties to voluntarily submit disputes to arbitration. See Davidson v. Hensen, 135 Wn.2d 112, 118, 954 P.2d 1327 (1998); Boyd v. Davis, 127 Wn.2d 256, 262, 897 P.2d 1239 (1995). Arbitration seeks to avoid the formalities, delay, expense, and vexation of litigation See Davidson, 135 Wn.2d at 118. Arbitration is in court. attractive because it is a more expeditious and final alternative to See Boyd, 127 Wn.2d at 262. In this regard, litigation. arbitration can be casually structured. See Tombs v. Northwest Wn.2d 157, 161, 516 P.2d 1028 Airlines, Inc., 83 (1973) (arbitrators are not expected or required to always follow the strict and technical rules of law); Thorgaard Plumbing & Heating Co. v. County of King, 71 Wn.2d 126, 132, 426 P.2d 828 (1967) (arbitration depends for its existence and for its jurisdiction upon the parties having contracted to submit to it, and upon the arbitration statute); Northern State Constr. Co. v. Banchero, 63 Wn.2d 245, 248, 386 P.2d 625 (1963) (although arbitration is in the nature of a judicial inquiry, the standards of judicial conduct and efficiency to which arbitrators are held are markedly different from those imposed on judicial officers). Arbitration's desirable qualities would be heavily diluted, if not expunged, if a trial court reviewing an arbitration award were permitted to conduct a trial *de novo*. *See Boyd*, 127 Wn.2d at 263.

Thus, Courts do not review—or confirm—the Arbitrator's reasons supporting the award. They confirm the "Award," which is a term of art in arbitration. *See Westmark*, 53 Wn. App. at 402-03.

In *Barnett v. Hicks*, the Court provided a detailed analysis of both the nature of private arbitration and the limited role courts have post-arbitration. *See Barnett v. Hicks*, 119 Wn.2d 151, 829 P.2d 1087 (1992). The Court held the following about arbitration:

- An arbitrator's powers are governed by an agreement to arbitrate;
- The arbitrator is not required to issue findings of fact and conclusions of law;

- A superior court may only confirm, vacate, modify, or correct an "award" based on limited and clearly defined statutory grounds;
- There is no traditional "full review" of an Arbitrator's award because of the limited nature of the proceedings and the desire for a quick and final resolution to the dispute;
- An arbitration proceeding is a private affair without an open-courts presumption;
- An arbitration lacks trial formalities and is designed to settle controversies, and its very purpose is to avoid courts insofar as resolution of the dispute is concerned.

Here, Defendants were forced to arbitration on a quick fuse and forced to defend multiple transactions without the benefit of the Manager who made the decisions, because he died of cancer during the middle of this dispute. Most of the "reasons" for the award are *not* supported by substantial evidence; they are contrary to the great weight of the evidence; and the Arbitrator made multiple fundamental errors in the "evidence" he considered, including hearsay "evidence" that violated the deadman's statute. But due to the limited nature of an appeal of an Award, and the purpose of arbitration, an Arbitrator's award *is*

not even required to be supported by substantial evidence and there is no real opportunity to appeal bad decisions. See RCW 7.04A.230 (defining the limited grounds a court must vacate a private arbitration award). Thus, while Defendants may be bound by the "Award," they did not consent to have the Arbitrator issue unreviewable findings of fact and conclusions of law under the Dispute Resolution provision of the Loan Agreement, and the Arbitrator in this case did not do so. The Superior Court had no evidentiary basis to confirm the "reasons" for the award and had no statutory basis to do so either. The Superior Court's power is limited to confirming the "Award," which the Arbitrator clearly identified in less than two pages of the documents he issued titled Interim Award and Final Award.

The Court of Appeals apparently failed to grasp that the issue on appeal is the scope of what a superior court is allowed to "confirm," and instead engaged in question begging and issued a decision that applies flawed, circular and non-sensical reasoning. The Court of Appeals rejected the appeal as to

whether the arbitrator's reasons for the award should be considered part of the "award" for purposes of confirmation by that, and instead treated it as a foregone conclusion that the "reasons for the award" are part of the "Award" for purposes of confirmation. The Court of Appeals wrote: "to the extent Point Ruston wanted to challenge the contents of the arbitration awards, it should have done so at arbitration, filed a motion for modification under RCW 7.04A.240, or filed a motion for vacation under RCW 7.04A.230. Any attempt by Point Ruston to contest the arbitration awards under RCW 7.04A.220 fails as that statute is not the avenue the legislature has prescribed for Point Ruston to challenge the content of the awards." Again, the whole point of the appeal was to decide whether the reasons are part of the award, not to attack them on appeal (as the reasons for the award are not subject to traditional review).

A court's job in "confirming" an award and then entering judgment on the award is simply to enforce the result. A court's job in confirming the award is not to review the reasons for the

decision; to act as a traditional appellate court; or to affirm or adopt the "correctness" of the fact supporting the decision. The whole point of *Westmark's* holding is in the recognition that arbitration is more focused on voluntary, expedient dispute resolution to fact finding, and that the unreviewable nature of the reasons for the award make it necessary for courts to give the impression that they have reviewed and adopted the arbitrator's reasoning for the award as a matter of statutory interpretation and as a matter of due process.

Thousands upon thousands of commercial contracts rely on arbitration clauses to resolve disputes quickly in recognition that resolving the dispute quickly and cheaply has more value to the parties to the contract than accurate fact finding. But parties to these contracts who bear the risk of a bad, non-reviewable judgment, should not also bear the risk of being saddled with the appearance that bad, unsupported, and defamatory reasons provided by an arbitrator have been independently adopted by a court of competent jurisdiction.

This Court should accept review of the Court of Appeal's decision under RAP 13(b)(4) because the issue involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court, which should determine that a court's statutory role in confirming an arbitration award is limited to an enforcement role and not that of fact finder or general appellate court.

V. CONCLUSION

Petitioners seek review of the March 7, 2023, Opinion issued by the Washington Court of Appeals, Division II ("COA"), affirming the Superior Court's confirmation of an arbitration award and entry of judgment against Petitioners, which is contained in the Appendix.