FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
5/8/2023 3:34 PM  
BY ERIN L. LENNON  
CLERK

NO. 1018720

IN THE SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON  
COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II: No. 56658-3-II

---

AURC III, LLC, an Oregon limited liability company,

Respondent,

v.

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

#### **IV. ARGUMENT**

This Court accepts review of a court of appeals decision per the standards of RAP 13.4(b). Those standards provide for review "only (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) if a decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b).

Point Ruston does not allege that (1) or (3) apply at all to either of its two proposed issues. Instead, it argues that the court of appeals' decision "is in conflict with" published case *Brooks*

*Trust A*, 111 Wn. App. at 393, and whether superior courts may attach arbitration awards to their ministerial orders confirming those awards “involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.” Neither standard of review is met in this matter. This Court should deny Point Ruston’s Petition and award AURC its reasonable attorneys’ fees for filing this answer.

**A. The Court of Appeals Decision Declining to Follow *Kenneth A. Brooks Trust A Does Not Create A Direct Split Between the Divisions of the Court of Appeals***

The bulk of Point Ruston’s argument for Supreme Court is because the court of appeals states, “We decline to follow *Brooks Trust* because policy considerations cannot overcome the plain language of a statute.” Slip Op. at 7. In its ruling, Division II of the court of appeals exercised its authority to disregard Division III case *Kenneth W. Brooks Trust A v. Pac. Media, LLC* (“*Brooks Trust A*”), 111 Wn. App. 393, 44 P.3d 938 (2002).

But that does not put its decision in direct conflict with *Brooks Trust A* because the outcome of this matter would be the

same even if the court of appeals here followed *Brooks Trust A*. As the court of appeals noted, even under *Brooks Trust A*'s analysis, Point Ruston would still lose. Whether pursuant to the mandatory language of RCW 7.04A.220 that the court of appeals relied upon, or to the policies underlying *Brooks Trust A*, Point Ruston cannot show that the superior court committed any reversible error by confirming the arbitration award.

Under RCW 7.04A.220, when a party files “a motion with the court for an order confirming” an arbitration award, “the court shall issue such an order unless the award is modified or corrected under RCW 7.04A.200 or 7.04A.240 or is vacated under RCW 7.04A.230.” Where none of the express statutory grounds under RCW 7.04A.220 apply, “[t]he confirming court does not have collateral authority to go behind the face of the award.” *Price v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash.*, 133 Wn.2d 490, 496-97, 946 P.2d 388 (1997). “A confirmation action is no more than a motion for an order to render judgment on the award previously made by the arbitrators pursuant to contract. If the court does not

modify, vacate, or correct the award, the court exercises a mere ministerial duty to reduce the award to judgment.” *Id.* at 497.

The court of appeals ruled that *Brooks Trust A* had erred by “prioritize[ing] policy considerations over the plain language of the statute” and rendering the mandatory duty for a superior court to confirm an arbitration award as subject to modification for policy reasons relating to judicial economy. Slip Op. at 7. But the court was also clear that “if the policy considerations in *Brooks Trust* are applied to this case, those same policy considerations support affirming the superior court’s confirmation of the arbitration award.” Slip Op. at 8 n.4. (emphasis added).

In *Brooks Trust A*, “the judicial economy and practical efficiencies [were] apparent” because the defendant’s “prompt payment peremptorily satisfied any need for judgment and effectively brought the underlying controversy to a close.” *Id.* In the face of overwhelming judicial efficiency, the court of appeals held that “a trial court *may* deny a motion to confirm an

arbitration award and dismiss the underlying claim” on mootness grounds. *Id.* at 400 (emphasis added). *Brooks Trust A* did not hold dismissal would *ever* be required—only that, in the specific circumstances of that case—dismissal did not merit reversible error.

In this case, in contrast, Point Ruston “did not oppose confirmation of the award,” but only rushed to pay the award after the superior court had “clearly expressed its intention to confirm the award” before the written order was entered. Slip Op. at 8 n.4. “By the time Point Ruston started the payment process, the parties and the superior court had already participated in most of the formalities, delays, expenses, and vexation of litigation.” *Id.* Under Point Ruston’s analysis, a party to any proceeding may avoid entry of an adverse judgment by litigating a matter to its conclusion and then scrambling to write a check between the court’s decision and entry of its written order.

This case does not present an appropriate set of facts to resolve any differences of opinion among divisions of the courts

of appeals. If the court of appeals was correct in this matter, RCW 7.04A.220's language is mandatory and superior courts *must* confirm the award, even where it has already been paid. If *Brooks Trust A* was correct, superior courts may, where doing so promotes policies of "judicial economy and practical effect," dismiss a moot motion to confirm an arbitration award. 111 Wn. App. at 398-99. In either case, as the court of appeals explained, Point Ruston loses.

Here, as noted by the superior court, it was the superior court's very ruling on the confirmation motion that prompted payment of the award. VRP (9/24/2021) at 9. Point Ruston's weekend scramble to pay its obligations before the court could enter a formal order against it, followed by multiple additional motions and delays, did not serve any definition of "judicial economy." Rather, Point Ruston prevented finality in the case and extended the proceedings for additional weeks, requiring additional briefing, argument, and delay.

As the court of appeals noted, the same policy considerations relied upon by *Brooks Trust A* “support affirming the superior court’s confirmation of the arbitration award” because “[b]y the time Point Ruston started the payment process, the parties and the superior court had already participated in most of the formalities, delays, expenses, and vexation of litigation.” Slip Op. at 8 n.4.

**B. A Party May Not Moot a Case Between a Superior Court’s Decision and Formal Entry of that Decision**

The Court of Appeals simply did not issue the decision that Petitioners challenged. It did not “determine[] that the Superior Court was required to enter a moot judgment confirming the award.”

**C. A Superior Court May Attach an Arbitrator’s Award to an Order Confirming That Award**

Next, AURC contends that what specific portion of an arbitration award a superior court chooses to attach to its order confirming that award presents an “issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.” RAP

13.4(b)(4). Point Ruston has not shown that either the superior court or court of appeals committed error of any kind, much less the attachment of a document to a ministerial order constitutes an issue worth that of Supreme Court review.

Point Ruston argues that a superior court commits reversible error when it attaches an arbitrator's award to its order confirming that award. The court of appeals understandably rejected this argument, holding that "[a]ttaching the arbitrator's interim and final awards merely identified the awards the superior court was confirming, nothing more or less." Slip Op. at 9. "*Westmark* does not preclude a superior court from attaching an arbitration award that includes an arbitrator's reasoning to an order confirming the arbitration award." *Id.* at 10.

Point Ruston repeatedly identifies "award" as a "term of art," but never identifies what the "term of art" means or includes. *See* Pet. for Review at 2, 5, 14. Instead, it relies exclusively on a single court of appeals case: *Westmark Props., Inc. v. McGuire* ("*Westmark*"), 53 Wn. App. 400, 766 P.2d 1146

(1989). *Westmark* had nothing to do with what document or portion of a document a superior court may attach to a confirmation order. *Id.* Instead, it held that an arbitrator’s inclusion of “random observations” or reasoning in its award does not subject that reasoning to judicial scrutiny. *Id.* at 403-04.

The court of appeals summarized *Westmark* in affirming the superior court in this case. Slip Op. at 9-10. In *Westmark*, the party who lost at arbitration presented the court “with a four-volume report of proceedings, all exhibits, and a line-by-line—almost word-by-word—analysis of the arbitrator’s three-page letter.” 53 Wn. App. at 402. The court declined to “review [the] arbitrator’s decision on the merits.” *Id.* Instead, any grounds for vacation of an arbitrator award must be based in the relevant statute and “must appear on the face of the award.” *Id.* The court held that a review of the arbitrator’s “random observations” contained in the letter with the award would be beyond the scope of appropriate judicial review under the then-relevant arbitration statute. *Id.* at 403.

AURC agrees with Point Ruston’s lengthy exposition on the role of arbitration and its general immunity from judicial review. *See* Pet. for Review at 13-15. As Point Ruston states, “[a]rbitration’s desirable qualities would be heavily diluted, if not expunged, if a trial court reviewing an arbitration award were permitted to conduct a trial *de novo*.” *Id.* at 14. That is exactly why Point Ruston’s demand that the superior court independently review and carve up the arbitrator’s award, confirming some portions and refusing to confirm others, is completely untenable. Instead, RCW 7.04A.220 directs that “the court *shall* issue” an order confirming the arbitration award unless it is modified or corrected under the corresponding statutes. (emphasis added). *Westmark* holds that the arbitrator award’s reasoning is unreviewable by the court; not that the court should not confirm the full award.

Point Ruston’s fundamental misread of *Westmark* and token RAP 13.4(b)(4) analysis do not justify intervention by the Supreme Court. This Court should deny review.

**D. AURC is Entitled to Its Reasonable Attorneys' Fees and Costs for This Answer**

“If attorney fees and expenses are awarded to the party who prevailed in the Court of Appeals, and if a petition for review to the Supreme Court is subsequently denied, reasonable attorney fees and expenses may be awarded for the prevailing party’s preparation and filing of the timely answer to the petition for review.” RAP 18.1(j). Because AURC obtained an award of its reasonable attorneys’ fees after prevailing at the court of appeals, Slip Op. at 10-11, this Court should award AURC its fees and expenses before this Court if review is denied pursuant to RAP 18.1(j).

**V. CONCLUSION**

This Court should deny Point Ruston’s Petition for Review

This Answer contains 3,517 words, excluding those portions exempted from word count by RAP 18.17(b).